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DECISION


The Missouri Real Estate Commission (“the MREC”) may discipline Rocky Joseph Gendron for obtaining a license by fraud, failing to obtain required continuing education (“CE”) hours, and having a criminal conviction.    

Procedure


The MREC filed a complaint on September 12, 2003, and an amended complaint on February 17, 2004.  On March 4, 2004, Gendron received notice of this case, a copy of the complaint, and notice of the time and place of the hearing on the amended complaint.  On September 22, 2004, the MREC filed a motion for summary determination of the complaint.  


Pursuant to § 536.073.3, RSMo 2000,
 our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.440(3)(B) provides that we may decide this case without a hearing if any party establishes facts that entitle any party 

to a favorable decision and no party disputes such facts.  Our regulation on summary determination is sufficiently similar to the Missouri Supreme Court Rule 74.04 on summary judgment to make cases interpreting the latter helpful.  Johnson v. Missouri Bd. of Nursing Adm'rs, 130 S.W.3d 619, 626 (Mo. App., W.D. 2004).  


We gave Gendron until October 12, 2004, to respond to the motion, but he did not respond.  Therefore, the following facts are undisputed.   

Findings of Fact

1. Gendron holds a real estate salesperson license that is active and current.

2. On August 6, 2002, Gendron filed with the MREC an application to renew his license for the period July 1, 2002, through June 30, 2004.  The application offered yes and no checkboxes for the following statement: 

I have met the appropriate continuing education [CE] requirements as outlined in Section 339.040.7 and 4 CSR 250-10.010 of the [MREC] statutes and regulations.  All courses were approved by the [MREC] and completed prior to submission of this renewal application and expiration of my license.  I have retained records documenting completion of these hours.  OR I have personally received a written waiver from the [MREC] for this renewal period.  I further certify that upon request, I can and will provide these records to the [MREC]. 

Gendron checked the “yes” box.  Gendron knew that his response was false, but the MREC granted the application for renewal based on it.  

3. By letter dated January 7, 2003, the MREC requested Gendron to provide proof that he had completed his 12 hours of CE.  The letter gave him 15 days to respond.  Gendron has never responded in writing to that letter.    

4. On January 14, 2003, the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri found Gendron guilty, on his plea of guilty, to possession with intent to distribute 

marijuana and conspiracy to distribute marijuana in violation of 21 USC §§ 841 (a)(1) and 846.  The court imposed sentence on him that day.    

5. By letter dated April 16, 2003, the MREC allowed Gendron to take the real estate salesperson license examination.
  The letter gave Gendron until June 16, 2003, to respond with proof of passing the examination.  Gendron has never responded in writing to that letter.  

Conclusions of Law

We have jurisdiction to hear the MREC’s amended complaint.  Section 339.100.2.  The MREC has the burden to prove that Gendron has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.  Missouri Real Estate Comm'n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  Therefore, the MREC carries its burden by establishing, beyond genuine dispute, the facts that it would have to show at hearing.  ITT Commercial Fin. Corp. v. Mid-Am. Marine Supply Corp., 854 S.W.2d 371, 380-82 (Mo. banc 1993).  

To establish the facts material to the MREC’s claim, it relies in part on the request for admissions served on Gendron on April 5, 2004, to which Gendron did not respond.  Under § 536.073.2, our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.420(1), and Supreme Court Rule 59.01, the failure to answer a request for admissions establishes the matters in the request conclusively.  The party making the request is entitled to rely upon the facts asserted in the request, and no further proof is required.  Killian Constr. Co. v. Tri-City Constr. Co., 693 S.W.2d 819, 827 (Mo. App., W.D. 1985).  Such a deemed admission can establish any fact, or “application of the facts to the law, or the truth of the ultimate issue, or opinion or conclusion, so long as the opinion called for is not on abstract propositions of law.”  Briggs v. King, 714 S.W.2d 694, 697 (Mo. App., W.D. 1986).   

That rule applies to all parties, including those acting pro se.  Research Hosp. v. Williams, 651 S.W.2d 667, 669 (Mo. App., W.D. 1983).  

However, even though Gendron has admitted that certain facts constitute a lawful basis for discipline, the General Assembly and the courts have instructed us that we must:

make an independent assessment of the facts to determine whether cause for disciplining a licensee exists. . . .  But this impartiality would be compromised if the determination of cause was not a separately and independently arrived at determination by the Hearing Commission. 

Kennedy v. Missouri Real Estate Comm'n, 762 S.W.2d 454, 456 -457 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).  We therefore independently apply the law to the facts that Gendron is deemed to have admitted as follows.   

I.  Regulatory Violations

The MREC cites § 339.100.2(14), which allows discipline for:

[v]iolation of, or attempting to violate, directly or indirectly, or assisting or enabling any person to violate, any provision of sections 339.010 to 339.180, or any lawful rule adopted pursuant to sections 339.010 to 339.180[.]

(Emphasis added.)  The MREC argues that Gendron’s failure to respond to the MREC’s two letters with proof that he passed the examination violated its Regulation 4 CSR 250-8.170(1): 

Failure of a licensee to respond in writing, within thirty (30) days from the date of the [MREC]'s written request or inquiry, mailed to the licensee's address currently registered with the [MREC], will be sufficient grounds for taking disciplinary action against that licensee. 

(Emphasis added.)  However, the letters dated January 7, 2003, and April 16, 2003, expressly altered the time to respond from the regulatory 30 days.  There is no substantial justification for discipline under such circumstances.  See also Twelve Oaks Motor Inn v. Strahan, 110 S.W.3d 404, 408-09 (Mo. App., S.D. 2003).  Gendron did not violate Regulation 4 CSR 250-8.170(1). 

The MREC also argues that Gendron’s failure to produce proof that he passed the examination violated the MREC's Regulation 4 CSR 250-10.010(1): 

Each real estate licensee who holds an active license shall complete during the two (2)-year license period prior to renewal, as a condition precedent to license renewal, a minimum of twelve (12) hours of real estate instruction approved for [CE] credit by the [MREC].  An active license is any license issued by the [MREC] except those which have been placed on inactive status by a broker or salesperson, pursuant to 4 CSR 250-4.040(3) and 4 CSR 250-4.050(6).  Failure to provide the [MREC] evidence of course completion as set forth shall constitute grounds for not renewing a license. . . .

(Emphasis added.)  That regulation does not require proof of passing the examination.  Therefore, failing to produce it did not violate Regulation 4 CSR 250-10.010(1).  

The MREC also argues that Gendron violated Regulation 4 CSR 250-10.010(1) by lacking the CE hours.  That regulation required Gendron to have the CE hours, and Gendron admits that he lacks those hours.  Therefore, we conclude that Gendron is subject to discipline under § 339.100.2(14) for violating Regulation 4 CSR 250-10.010(1).

II.  Fraud

The MREC argues that Gendron’s false attestations – that he had completed the CE and had records – are cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(10), which allows discipline for:

[o]btaining a certificate or registration of authority, permit or license for himself or anyone else by false or fraudulent representation, fraud or deceit[.]

Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another person to act in reliance upon it.  Hernandez v. State Bd. of Regis’n for Healing Arts, 936 S.W.2d 894, 899 n.2 (Mo. App., W.D. 1997).  Deceit is:

1 : the act or practice of deceiving : DECEPTION

2 : an attempt or device to deceive : TRICK

3 : the quality of being deceitful : DECEITFULNESS

Gendron admits, and we conclude, that his false attestations are cause for discipline under 

§ 339.100.2(10).   

III.  Conviction

The MREC argues that Gendron’s conviction is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(15), which allows discipline for:

[c]ommitting any act which would otherwise be grounds for the commission to refuse to issue a license under section 339.040[.]

Section 339.040.1(1) allows the MREC to deny applicants unless they:

[a]re persons of good moral character[.]

Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and respect for the law and the rights of others.  State ex rel. McAvoy v. Louisiana Bd. of Med. Examiners, 115 So.2d 833, 839 n.2 (La. 1959), and Florida Bd. of Bar Examiners Re:  G.W.L., 364 So.2d 454, 458 (Fla. 1978).    

The MREC also cites § 339.100.2(17), which allows discipline if Gendron has:

Been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of this state or any other state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated under this chapter . . . or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed[.]

(Emphasis added.)  Moral turpitude is: 

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”  

In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).  Drug dealing is a crime involving moral turpitude. Missouri Real Estate Comm'n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 709 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989)

Gendron admits, and we conclude, that his conviction is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(15) and (17).  

IV.  Competence

The MREC also cites §§ 339.100.2(15) and 339.040.1(3), which allow discipline of persons who are not:

competent to transact the business of a broker or salesperson in such a manner as to safeguard the interest of the public.

Incompetency is a general lack of present ability to perform a given duty.  Missouri Bd. for Arch'ts, Prof'l Eng'rs & Land Surv'rs v. Duncan, No. AR-84-0239 (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm’n Nov. 15, 1985) at 116, aff'd, 744 S.W.2d 524 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).  It includes a general indisposition to use an otherwise sufficient ability.  Forbes v. Missouri Real Estate Comm'n, 798 S.W.2d 227, 230 (Mo. App., W.D. 1990).  The MREC cites Gendron’s failure to complete CE, false attestations, failure to respond to the MREC’s inquiries, and conviction.  Gendron admits, and we agree, that such conduct is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(15).   

V.  Reputation

The MREC also argues that Gendron is subject to discipline under § 339.100.2(15) and the provision of § 339.040.1 that allows denial if an applicant does not:

[b]ear a good reputation for honesty, integrity, and fair dealing[.]

Gendron admits that his reputation is proved by his lack of CE, false attestation, failure to respond to the MREC’s inquiries, and conviction.  However, “[t]he general reputation of a person is the general opinion, whether good or bad, held over a person by those in the 

community in which such person resides [.]”  State v. Ruhr, 533 S.W.2d 656, 659 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1976) (quoting BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1467-68 (Rev. 4th ed.)).  The bad acts listed do not establish the community’s opinion of Gendron.  Therefore, he is not subject to discipline under § 339.100.2(15) for lacking a good reputation.

Summary


Gendron is subject to discipline under § 339.100.2(10), (14), (15), and (17).  We cancel the hearing.


SO ORDERED on October 26, 2004.



________________________________



JOHN KOPP



Commissioner

	�Other statutory references are to House Bill 985, 92nd General Assembly, Second Regular Session.


	�This letter refers to a letter dated January 10, 2003, which the record does not show, but is probably a reference to the letter dated January 7, 2003.
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